FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
4/25/2022 12:58 PM
No. 100869-4

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/25/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 100809-4 COA No. 37645-1-III (consolidated with COA No. 37718-1-III)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

AMY SUE BROWN,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

On Appeal From Benton County Superior Court The Hon. Alexander Ekstrom, Presiding

> NEIL M. FOX Attorney for Petitioner WSBA No. 15277 2125 Western Ave. Suite 330 Seattle WA 98121

Phone: (206) 728-5440 Email: nf@neilfoxlaw.com

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Amanda Hill and Amy Brown were good friends and coworkers. On February 9, 2018, along with their respective boyfriends, they celebrated Ms. Brown's birthday. Hill later drunkenly crawled into bed with Brown's boyfriend. Ms. Brown then entered the bedroom, mumbled something about "I knew it," and left to have a cigarette. Hill followed Brown outside and shoved her down and attacked her. Hill – at least seven inches taller than Brown – began trying to strangle Brown. When Hill refused to stop, Ms. Brown was able to reach up and get a gun from a nearby parked vehicle. She shot and killed Ms. Hill. Slip Op. at 3-4; *Amended Opening Brief of Appellant* ("BOA") at 3-6.

By amended information, filed in Benton County Superior Court, the State charged Ms. Brown with second degree felony murder. CP 44-45. The case was tried to a jury between February 24 and March 9, 2020, the Hon. Alexander Ekstrom presiding.

At trial, Ms. Brown testified, essentially repeating what she told the police the morning the incident – that she shot her friend in self-defense. RP III 1441-95; Exs. 190, 191 and 192. The State's expert concluded that the evidence did not support Ms. Brown's version, RP III 1130-68, but a defense expert concluded that a valid reconstruction was not possible because of the destruction of evidence by first responders. RP 1359-95.

The jury convicted Ms. Brown. CP 201. On June 26, 2020, the trial court imposed a standard range sentence of 180 months. CP 262-72. Ms. Brown appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed on March 31, 2022. App. A. Ms. Brown now seeks review in this Court.

E. <u>ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE</u> GRANTED

1. The State Improperly Used Its Peremptory Challenges as a Basis to Exclude Women from the Jury

a. Additional Facts

During jury selection, the State exercised six peremptory challenges against six women. CP 117. Ms. Brown's attorney objected under *Batson*, but did not cite this Court's decision in *Jefferson* that modified the third-step of *Batson* to adopt the "objective observer" test. Thus, the trial court only addressed the challenge under a traditional *Batson* test. RP I 476-78.

The State's reasons for its peremptory challenges to six women included their demeanor. Regarding Juror 32, the prosecutor noted her "body language and posture" which he thought was based on her "dislike" of the prosecutor's questions. RP I 474-75. The State also challenged Juror 34 because of her demeanor—she "appeared uncomfortable during the proceedings,

appeared nervous." RP I 473. The State did not challenge Juror 27, a man, who the judge noted also "appeared to be nervous and uncomfortable and not enjoying the process at all," although the defense challenged him (for reasons that were never explained). RP I 477-78.

As for the other challenged jurors, the reasons given by the State, including views about alcohol, credibility and firearms, were really little different from men who the State did not challenge. *See BOA* at 12-16, 30-32, 36-37.

The trial court denied the *Batson* challenge, stating "I'm persuaded that while the State's six peremptory challenges were used on women, I would note first that the rationales given are consistent with the record. . . . I'm persuaded that there is a nondiscriminatory basis given for each of the jurors stricken." RP I 477-78.

b. Argument

i. There is No Support for Applying a Lesser Standard to Gender Discrimination in Jury Selection Than Race Discrimination

Last year this Court's Gender and Justice Commission issued its *Final Report*, 2021, *How Gender and Race Affect Justice Now*.² The report concluded, *inter alia*, that despite 30 years of progress gendered-based disparities in the legal system remain or have increased. It reported (in Chapter 3) the continued under-representation of women on juries, particularly Black, Indigenous, and women of color. The report noted anecdotal stories of the continued disproportionate exclusion of women from juries through peremptory challenges in certain types of cases. *Id.* at 147-48.

Https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/gjc/documents/2021_Gender_Justice_Study_Report.pdf (accessed 4/21/22).

Despite this evidence of continued gender discrimination, despite the State's pattern of exercising six peremptory challenges against six women in this case, despite the State's justification of strikes against two women based on demeanor, and despite the State's candid admission that gendered-stereotypes are still the "conventional wisdom" in jury selection, *Brief of Respondent* ("*BOR*") at 20, 29, the Court of Appeals declined to apply this Court's recent modification of *Batson*'s third-step to this case—an application that would have restricted demeanor-based peremptory challenges.³

This Court recognizes that "body language" and "demeanor" as "reasons for peremptory challenges [that] have historically been associated with improper discrimination in jury selection in Washington State." GR 37(i). *See also State v. Omar*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 747, 749, 755, 460 P.3d 225 (2020) (juror who made defendant "uncomfortable" was a "nebulous" reason that might mask conscious or unconscious bias); *Wright v. 3M Co.*, 20 Wn. App. 2d 1028, 2021 Wash. App. LEXIS 2910 at *26-*28 (2021) (unpub.) (perception of juror's "hostility").

The Court of Appeals referred to Ms. Brown's arguments here as "novel":

novel because there is no authority to support this specific argument. GR 37 and the holding in *Jefferson* are based on a demonstrated history of *Batson*'s inability to move the needle on racial and ethnic bias in jury selection. Ms. Brown fails to demonstrate that racial and gender bias are so similar that they are merely interchangeable. If such were the case, gender would likely have been included in GR 37's inaugural version.

Slip Op. at 11.

At the outset, this Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Whether *Jefferson* applies to gender discrimination in jury selection is an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.

Moreover, while the GR 37 task force may not have included gender discrimination in the final rule, the issue is not whether <u>GR 37</u> applies to gender discrimination, but whether <u>Jefferson</u>'s modification of the third-step of *Batson* applies to gender discrimination. Here, the Court of Appeals' decision is

deficient because it ignored 30 years of authority in both the U.S. Supreme Court and Washington courts that has always applied the same tests developed for race-based discrimination in jury selection to gender-discrimination. *See J.E.B. v. Alabama ex rel. T.B.*, 511 U.S. 127, 114 S. Ct. 1419, 128 L. Ed. 2d 89 (1994); *State v. Burch*, 65 Wn. App. 828, 830 P.2d 357 (1992).

Indeed, in *J.E.B.*, the Supreme Court rejected comparative calculations of discrimination, refusing to "determine . . . whether women or racial minorities have suffered more at the hands of discriminatory state actors during the decades of our Nation's history," *J.E.B.*, 511 U.S. at 136. The Court of Appeals' here did exactly what the U.S. Supreme Court refused to do – engage in a comparison of whose experience of discrimination is worse.

Furthermore, the protections against gender discrimination are arguably higher in this State than those against race discrimination. Washington's Equal Rights Amendment ("ERA"), Const. art. XXXI, provides:

Equality of rights and responsibility under the law shall not be denied or abridged on account of sex.

This constitutional provision was intended to end sex discrimination by replacing traditional scrutiny analysis (used for race discrimination⁴) under the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 12, of the Washington Constitution with one question: "Is the classification by sex discriminatory?" *Marchioro v. Chaney*, 90 Wn.2d 298, 305, 582 P.2d 487 (1978).⁵ In *Burch*, the leading Washington case applying *Batson* to peremptory challenges based on gender, then-Judge Pekelis specifically relied on the ERA. *Burch*, 65 Wn.

⁴ City of Cleburne v. Cleburne Living Ctr., Inc., 473 U.S. 432, 440, 105 S. Ct. 3249, 87 L. Ed. 2d 313 (1985).

See also Roy v. Everett, 118 Wn.2d 352, 380, 823 P.2d 1084 (1992); Darrin v. Gould, 85 Wn.2d 859, 877, 540 P.2d 882 (1975). Other states with similar provisions have applied strict scrutiny to assess gender discrimination in peremptory challenges. See Tyler v. State, 330 Md. 261, 623 A.2d 648, 651 (1993).

App. at 836-37. Yet, the Court of Appeals here completely ignored the ERA, not mentioning it at any point in its opinion.

There is simply no doctrinal support for the Court of Appeals' use of a lesser standard for gender than for race when it comes to peremptory challenges. There is no reason why *Jefferson*'s modification of *Batson*'s third-step would not apply to gender-based peremptory challenges.

Accordingly, under *Batson* as it is applied in *Jefferson*, the State's peremptory challenges were discriminatory in violation of Ms. Brown's rights to a jury trial, rights to equal protection of the law and right against discrimination based on sex. U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 12, 21 & 22; Const. art. XXXI. The Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2) and (3) because of the constitutional issues and the conflicts with *Jefferson* and *Burch*. Given the State's near-concession during oral argument in the Court of Appeals that if *Jefferson*

applied to gender, its demeanor-based challenges would fail,⁶ the conviction should be reversed.

ii. The *Jefferson* Issue is Properly Considered for the First Time on Appeal

Below, trial counsel did not cite *Jefferson*, and the trial court conducted a traditional *Batson* analysis. This is not a barrier to relief.

Whether the strictures of RAP 2.5(a)(3) apply or not is not the issue. *See* Slip Op. at 5-6 (noting that Ms. Brown did not argue under RAP 2.5). There clearly was an objection below to the State's pattern of discriminatory peremptory challenges based on gender, and the issue is whether the trial court used the proper legal standard in deciding the issue.

Notably, in *Burch*, the Court of Appeals reversed a conviction for gendered-based peremptory challenges even though

⁶ Https://tvw.org/video/division-3-court-of-appeals-2021121063/?eventID=2021121063 at 22:11-25:00.

there had only been an objection below based on race. *Id.* at 838-39. *See also Ford v. Georgia*, 498 U.S. 411, 111 S. Ct. 850, 112 L. Ed. 2d 935 (1991) (reviewing *Batson* claim even though defendant relied on *Swain v Alabama*, 380 U.S. 202, 85 S. Ct. 824, 13 L. Ed. 2d 759 (1965), and never cited the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment).

Moreover, if the error was "invited," then it was ineffective assistance of counsel not to argue that *Jefferson* controlled, a decision issued over a year before the trial. U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984). Effective assistance of counsel includes raising the proper legal arguments in support of the claims being made. *See In re Personal Restraint of Maxfield*, 133 Wn.2d 332, 343-44, 945 P.2d 196 (1997) (plurality). Counsel's failure to understand current caselaw is deficient performance. *See State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d 856, 868-69, 215 P.3d 177 (2009).

This is not question of counsel's failure to raise a "novel" argument, as the Court of Appeals referred to it. Slip Op. at 8, 11, 12. In *Maxfield*, for instance, it was ineffective for counsel on a direct appeal not to set out the proper state constitutional argument under article I, section 7 – a "novel" argument that had not yet been adopted by Washington courts.

In any case, it is not "novel" to argue that our courts and the Supreme Court have used the same tests for gender and race discrimination in jury selection, nor is it the citation to the ERA "novel" given it was the foundation of the *Burch* decision 30 years ago. The failure of the trial counsel to argue that the State's gendered-peremptory challenges violated *Jefferson* was ineffective in violation of the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, article I, section 22 and *Strickland*. Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (3).

iii. Reversal is Required Under a Traditional *Batson* Analysis

Even under the traditional third-step of *Batson*, the State's challenges should have been rejected. At the outset, the trial court failed to apply the proper test. Step Three requires the court to "weigh all relevant circumstances and decide if the strike was motived by racial animus." *City of Seattle v. Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d 721, 727, 398 P.3d 1124 (2017).

Here, all the court did was state that it was "persuaded that there is a nondiscriminatory basis given for each of the jurors stricken." RP I 478. That the prosecutor merely was able to articulate a nondiscriminatory basis is not the standard -- the question is whether the stated reasons were genuine and not subterfuge for discrimination against women.

This is not "splitting hairs" as the Court of Appeals described it. Slip Op. at 18 n.8. The issue of whether there was a factual finding of the lack of discriminatory purpose is the very

finding that is given deferential "clearly erroneous" review under *Batson*. *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 250. A misstatement of this standard is a legal error that justifies a remand, if not reversal. *See City of Seattle v. Erickson*, 188 Wn.2d at 735.

A proper application of *Batson*'s third-step shows the State's purposeful discrimination. It is apparent that the State's challenges, including the two demeanor-based challenges, were improperly based on gender. Even the Court of Appeals recognized "there are some similarities between the seated and eliminated venire members." Slip Op. at 17. The differences in answers particularly about firearms, substance abuse and self-defense are hardly sufficient to justify striking six women. As for

See BOA at 12-16, 30-32, 36-37 for a complete discussion of the answers of the potential jurors. As an example, the State cited Juror 36's history with alcohol as one reason for the challenge, RP I 473, but did not challenge Jurors 3 or 33, with similar histories. RP I 121-22, 417-18, CP 355, 595. The State complained that Juror 17 "believed that firearms, use of firearms for self-protection could be for in threat of one's life or in harm," RP I 471, but the man who (continued...)

the demeanor-based strikes, the State did not challenge Juror 27, a man, who also appeared nervous.⁸

Review should be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (3), due to the violation of Ms. Brown's rights under *Batson*, the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and article I, sections 12, 21 and 22.

⁷(...continued) ended up taking her place on the jury, Juror 26, had similar views. RP I 425; CP 538.

The Court of Appeals noted that because the defense challenged Juror 27, it is not known if the State would have challenged him. Slip Op. at 16. Yet, by the time the defense challenged Juror 27, the State had already challenged five women in a row, CP 117, and the State never said that it would also have challenged him.

2. Instruction 19 Improperly Altered the State's Burden of Disproving Self-Defense

a. Additional Facts

The trial court gave two sets of self-defense instructions:

- 1. Instructions related to justifiable homicide where the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury. CP 188-89.
- 2. Instructions related to justifiable homicide in the actual resistance to the commission of a felony upon the slayer, with the court defining two types of assault in the second degree (strangulation or suffocation) as qualifying felonies. CP 190-94.

Appendix B.

The second set did not contain the language contained in the first set that "the slayer reasonably believed that the person slain intended to inflict death or great personal injury." CP 188.

There was only one "act on appearances" instruction for both forms of self-defense, Instruction 19, CP 195 (App. B), proposed by the defense. CP 105. It required that a person acting

on appearances must still believe "in good faith and on reasonable grounds that she is in actual danger of great personal injury." CP 195.

b. Argument

As it relates to resistance to a felony self-defense, Instruction 19 is not the law, misstates the level of danger required before a person can use force, and is a basis for reversal.

RCW 9A.16.050 codifies two types of self-defense as justifiable homicide: (1) ordinary self-defense involving resisting a threat that would result in great personal injury, and (2) self-defense predicated on resisting the decedent's attempt to commit a felony upon the accused. The right to defend oneself from a felony in progress (§ 2) exists independently of the right to defend oneself from a threat of great personal injury or death (§1). *See State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 521, 122 P.3d 150 (2005).

With regard to Section 2, resistance to a felony, some felonies are not sufficiently dangerous to justify the use of deadly force. *See, e.g., State v. Nyland*, 47 Wn.2d 240, 287 P.2d 345 (1955) (adultery is not such an offense). However, WPIC 16.03, based on RCW 9A.16.050(2), is appropriate when deadly force is reasonably necessary to protect against "*felonies* which are committed by *violence and surprise*; such as murder, robbery, burglary, arson, . . . sodomy, and rape." *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d at 522 (emphasis in original) (quoting *Nyland*, 47 Wn.2d at 242).

Unlike RCW 9A.16.050(1), RCW 9A.16.050(2) does not require the slayer reasonably to fear great personal danger. As Division One recently held in a case where the trial court modified the resistance to a felony instructions to require a fear of death or great personal injury, a person can use deadly force to resist a felony even if they do not fear death or great personal injury. *State v. Ackerman*, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 314. Still, as Division One

recognized, the use of force in response to a felony must be reasonable. Id. at 314 (citing Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 521).

Instruction 19's error is that it did not convey to the jury that a person acting under appearances regarding resistance to a felony did not need to fear great personal injury and told the jury the opposite. "A jury instruction on self-defense that misstates the harm that the person must apprehend is erroneous." *State v. Kyllo*, 166 Wn.2d at 863. Because erroneous self-defense instructions lower the State's burden of proof, *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 489-501, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983), Ms. Brown's rights to due process of law and a jury trial were violated. U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, §§3, 21 & 22.

Trial counsel was ineffective to propose Instruction 19 and not propose a correct "act on appearances" instruction for resistance to a felony self-defense. U.S. Const. amends. VI & XIV; Const. art. I, § 22; Strickland v. Washington, supra; Kyllo,

166 Wn.2d at 865-70. This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (3), and reverse.

Division Three disagreed, declining to follow Division One's opinion in *Ackerman* in light of what it considered be a controlling opinion by this Court in *Brightman*. Slip Op. at 23-24. This disagreement with Division One in and of itself should lead to the granting of review under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

Once review is granted, the Court should follow *Ackerman*. There is no conflict between *Ackerman* and *Brightman*, with this Court actually recently citing *Ackerman* as authority. *See State v. Weaver*, 198 Wn.2d 459, 468, 496 P.3d 1183 (2021).

In *Brightman*, the issue was whether *any* instructions on resistance to a felony should be given. Brightman killed someone robbing him of a small amount of money, but *admitted he did not fear the victim*. *Id.* at 510. The Court approved of not giving resistance to a felony instructions because deadly force was not reasonable under those circumstances. *Id.* at 523-24.

In contrast, Ms. Brown testified she was "terrified" and "scared" after Hill unprovoked attacked, suffocated and choked her. RP III 1470, 1472. A person who is irrationally shoved to the ground and strangled need not engage in the calculus of determining if their assailant actually intends to kill them or cause them great personal injury to be able to use deadly force. The only issue is whether the force is not unreasonable under the circumstances, a jury question. A contrary conclusion would change the law in Washington and change the rights of crime victims to use deadly force in resistance to violent felonies. This is an issue of public importance justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

In contrast to *Brightman*, the State here agreed there was sufficient evidence to give resistance to a felony instructions. RP 1527.

3. The Court Should Review the Issue of the Admission of a Photograph of Ms. Hill With Her Young Toddler

a. Additional Facts

Rather than introduce an "in life" photograph of Ms. Hill taken two months before the incident, Ex. 199, the State proffered a decade-old photograph of Hill with her then-young toddler son. Ex. 1. The trial court admitted the photo in part because the State introduced evidence that Ms. Brown also had a child. RP I 494. The State used the photograph in closing, beginning its PowerPoint with the photo juxtaposed with the words "AMANDA" HILL Murdered." Ex. B at 2 (App. D).

b. Argument

The admission of Ex. 1 violated ER 401-403, was an abuse of discretion and caused prejudice. The issue is not the admission of an "in life" photograph as in prior cases. *See State v. Finch*, 137 Wn.2d 792, 811-12, 975 P.2d 967 (1999); *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 651-53, 904 P.2d 245 (1995). Rather, the issue is

whether the admission of a decade-old photograph *that focuses on*Hill's young child, who is now motherless, was an abuse of discretion.

The Court of Appeals held that the jury had already seen gruesome crime scene and autopsy photos and knew that both Hill and Ms. Brown had children. Slip Op. at 26-27. This confuses the emotional impact of seeing gruesome photos, which were relevant to the case, with the display of Hill with her young toddler, which was not relevant. Ex. 1 misleadingly emphasized Hill's role as a mother of a young child (who was no longer that young a decade later) and could only have an emotional appeal based on stereotypes of motherhood. The fact that the State introduced evidence that Ms. Brown had her own child is beside the point as the State did not display a photograph of Ms. Brown's child to the jury in closing.

In City of Auburn v. Hedlund, 165 Wn.2d 645, 201 P.3d 315 (2009), this Court held that graphic evidence in the form of a

911 call that had little to do with the elements of the charged offenses was too prejudicial and its admission warranted reversal. *Id.* at 655. The Court of Appeals' decision did not mention *Hedlund*, but its decision conflicts with it. This Court should accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and reverse.

4. Prosecutorial Misconduct in Closing Denied Ms. Brown a Fair Jury Trial

a. Additional Facts

The State began its closing by displaying Ex. 1 juxtaposed with the words "AMANDA HILL Murdered." App. D. It argued that "we are all here because of the defendant, Amy Brown," RP IV 1559, repeatedly referred to Brown's "claim" of self-defense, argued that there was no evidence to support the "claim," and writing off Ms. Brown's actions as "stupidity." RP IV 1559-1603.

b. Argument

"We are [not] all here because of the defendant, Amy Brown." It was the State that filed the charges. Ms. Brown

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