FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/26/2022 1:17 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 100869-4

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# THE STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

# AMY SUE BROWN, Petitioner.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ANDY MILLER Prosecuting Attorney for Benton County

Terry J. Bloor Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSBA No. 9044 OFFICE ID 91004

7122 West Okanogan Place Bldg. A Kennewick WA 99336 (509) 735-3591

###

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

		This is not close to the
		information that No. 41
		volunteered that sleep-
		deprivation could
		cause brawling and
		misstatements.
No. 41	No. 29, who said	Juror No. 29
	"memory 'just depends	demonstrated an
	on what the incident is	understanding of self-
	and how dramatic it	defense: "Q:
	was."	[S]omeone's at the
	was.	store with their kids
		and they get shoved.
		Would it be
		proportionate to pull
		out a weapon and either strike or shoot
		the person who shoved them? A: No
		It was just a shove, I
		guess as long as the

		person that shoved
		them isn't pulling out a
		gun pulling out a
		gun would be over
		excessive." RP at 427-
		28.
		Juror 29's comment
		about memory does not
		approach what Juror 41
		said.
17	No. 17 was pro-gun	No. 17 said she
	and so were No. 26 and	possibly would not be
	No. 39.	fair because of her pro-
		gun attitude. CP 466.
		Both No. 26 and 39
		stated their opinions
		about firearms would
		not cause them any
		bias. CP 538, 642.
		,
No. 36	No. 33. "While Juror	That is hardly a
	No. 33 was a former	comparison. The State
	law enforcement	could expect a former
	officer with military	law enforcement
	experience, Juror No.'s	officer who would
	36's daughters either	have worked with
	worked for CPS or a	prosecutors to be
	jail."	sympathetic. Not so
		with someone who had
		a daughter working for
		CPS or a jail.

The prosecution would have also preferred the statements of these two jurors, who happened to be men, over the six jurors they struck, who happened to be women.

No. 26	"Q: How do you think that right of self-defense
	applied actually works? A: If your life is in danger,
	or you feel threatened or someone else is threatened
	in your presence, you the right to self-defense or
	defense of somebody else. Q: Are there limits?
	A: Well, you can only take that self-defense so far
	. at some point, once your situation has been dealt
	with, then you should back off. RP at 425-26.
No. 39	Has never consumed alcohol but could be fair and
	impartial in judging the facts of the case. If there is
	evidence of alcohol consumption he would not be
	biased. RP at 398

### II. ARGUMENT

# A. The Court should not accept review of the jury selection issue under any provision of RAP 13.4 (b).

The defendant argues that this Court should accept review under all four subsections of RAP 13.4.

# 1. The Court of Appeals' decision is not in conflict with any case.

The defendant claims that the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *State v. Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d 225, 429 P.3d 467

(2018) and *State v. Burch*, 65 Wn. App. 828, 830 P.2d 357 (1992). See PRV at 13. Those cases are not in conflict with this case.

The *Jefferson* court specifically applied the holding to race and ethnicity: "Our *Batson* protections are not robust enough to effectively combat racial discrimination during jury selection." (Emphasis added.) *Jefferson*, 192 Wn.2d at 229. "We need to do better to achieve the objectives of protecting litigants' rights to equal protection of the laws and jurors' rights to participate in jury service free from racial discrimination." (Emphasis added.) *Id.* "If a *Batson* challenge to a peremptory strike of a juror proceeds to that third step of Batson's threepart inquiry, then the trial court must ask whether an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory strike." (Emphasis added.) *Id.* "Our current Batson test does not sufficiently address the issue of race discrimination in juror selection." (Emphasis added.) Id. at 238. "[I]t is clear that *Batson* has failed to eliminate *race* 

discrimination in jury selection." Id. at 240. "Batson fails to address peremptory strikes due to implicit or unconscious bias, as opposed to purposeful race discrimination." (Emphasis added.) Id. at 242. "(Prior US Supreme Court cases) did not address the issue of 'unintentional, institutional or unconscious' race bias." (Emphasis added.) Id. at 243. "[T]he relevant question is whether 'an objective observer could view race or ethnicity as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." (Emphasis added.) *Id.* at 249. "The evil of *racial* discrimination is still the evil this rule seeks to eradicate." (Emphasis added). *Id.* "But our current *Batson* standard fails to adequately address the pervasive problem of *race* discrimination in jury selection. . . . we hold that step three of the *Batson* inquiry must change: at step three, trial courts must ask if an objective observer could view race as a factor in the use of the peremptory challenge." (Emphasis added.) *Id.* at 252.

*Burch*, 65 Wn. App. at 836, applied *Batson* protections to gender. Neither case held that a higher standard than *Batson* should apply to gender in jury selection. RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (2) do not apply.

RAP 13.4 (b)(3) does not apply. At the trial court both the defense attorney and the prosecution agreed that the *Batson* standard was appropriate. On appeal the defendant claimed that the trial court should have used the standards in GR 37 and in *Jefferson* and that her attorney was ineffective for not arguing the idea that an objective observer could view gender as a factor in the use of peremptory challenges, rather than the *Batson* standard.

# 2. There is not a significant question of law under the State or Federal Constitutions.

The defendant's argument is that 1) courts have used the same tests for gender and race discrimination in jury selection and that the test for gender discrimination should be increased to that for racial discrimination, and 2) the defendant's trial attorney should have anticipated this issue and not agreed to a

*Batson* standard for the challenges to female jurors struck by the State. Both arguments are incorrect. There is no significant question of constitutional law.

The first argument does not recognize discrimination against female jurors is not equivalent to the discrimination against racial or ethnic minorities. A Westlaw search using the term "Batson challenges based on race or gender" of all Washington State cases results in 65 reported cases. Of those, only four were relating to Batson challenges based on gender. In fact, women are not necessarily the target of discrimination in jury selection. Two of the four cases in Washington were efforts by the prosecution to have a predominately male jury. Burch, supra, and State v. Beliz, 104 Wn. App. 206, 15 P.3d 683 (2001), in which the prosecutors admitted they attempted to have a predominately male jury. *Beliz*, 104 Wn. App. at 214; Burch, 62 Wn. App at 841. The other two were unpublished cases in which the defendant alleged that the prosecution used peremptory challenges against *male* jurors. *State v. MacMillan*,

166 Wn. App. 1035, 2012 WL 661357 (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 27, 2012)<sup>2</sup>; *State v. McLane*, 149 Wn. App. 1007, 2009 WL 485368, (Wash. Ct. App. Feb. 26, 2009)<sup>3</sup>.

The Equal Rights Amendment (ERA) adopted in 1972 by Washington State prohibits discrimination on the basis of sexbased classifications. *Guard v. Jackson*, 132 Wn.2d 660, 664, 940 P.2d 642 (1997). It does not require that the protection against discrimination of the basis of gender equal that of protections against discrimination for racial or ethnic minorities. In fact, in jury selection discrimination may occur against women or men. There is no classification

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> This unpublished opinion, Attached as App. A, is a nonbinding authority that has no precedential value but is cited for such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1; *Crosswhite v. DSHS*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 389 P.3d 731 (2017).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This unpublished opinion, Attached as App. B, is a nonbinding authority that has no precedential value but is cited for such persuasive value as the court deems appropriate. GR 14.1; *Crosswhite v. DSHS*, 197 Wn. App. 539, 389 P.3d 731 (2017).

distinguishing between men and women for which the ERA would apply.

Concerning the defendant's second argument, there is no reason for a trial attorney to anticipate the defendant's argument on appeal. The defendant has cited no example of a jurisdiction which provided greater protections than *Batson* to combat racial or ethnic discrimination in jury selection and then increased such protections based on gender to keep up. Post-Jefferson and post-GR 37, the correct standard was the *Batson* standard to determine if the State correctly used its peremptory challenges against the six females. There were reasons in the record for five of the six and under the totality of circumstances including that the State did not use its final peremptory challenge, the State cited non-verbal cues which were supported by the trial court, there was no excessive questioning of the juror, a similar male juror was challenged by the defense—the one remaining juror did not violate the *Batson* standard.

There are no constitutional issues regarding jury selection.

3. This issue does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

The defendant cites this Court's Gender and Justice

Commission, WA Supreme Court, Gender and Justice

Commission, Final Report, 2021, How Gender and Race Affect

Justice Now.

Https://www.courts.wa.gov/subsite/gjc/documents/2021\_Gende r\_Justice\_Study\_Report.pdf. However, that study spoke of arguments in favor of including gender in GR 37. It did not recommend that amendment.

As stated above, a Westlaw search results in a total of four cases alleging gender discrimination in jury selection considered by either the Washington State Supreme Court or the Court of Appeals since 1992. There are more female attorneys than male attorneys in the United States, 51.5% to

48.5%, according to Lawyer Demographics and Statistics in the U.S.

The defendant has not presented examples of widespread bias against women (or men) in jury selection. In fact, her argument is not that there is systemic discrimination against women, but that the protection against gender discrimination should be increased to match the rule in *Jefferson* and the provisions of GR 37 for racial and ethnic discrimination.

There is no reason to accept review on the jury selection issue.

# B. The self-defense issue is settled law; the Court of Appeals' decision is consistent with caselaw.

The defendant argued this issue in *State v. Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d 506, 521, 122 P.3d 150 (2005). The *Brightman* court held that to resist a felony it is required that the force used by the slayer be *reasonably necessary*. "Deadly force is only necessary where its use is objectively reasonable, considering the facts and circumstances as they were understood by the

defendant at the time." The Court cited *State v. Nyland*, 47 Wn.2d 240, 242, 287 P.2d 345 (1955) stating,

The class of crimes in prevention of which a man may, *if necessary*, exercise his natural right to repel force by force to the taking of the life of the aggressor, are *felonies* which are committed by *violence and surprise*; such as murder, robbery, burglary, arson . . . sodomy and rape.

The *Brightman* court concluded that RCW 9A.16.050 (2), which provides for the defense of justifiable homicide when the slayer is resisting a felony, "incorporates the concept that each act of deadly force must be reasonably necessary under the circumstances." *Brightman*, 155 Wn.2d at 523.

Other cases are in accord. *State v. Griffith*, 91 Wn.2d 572, 576-77, 589 P.2d 799 (1979) held that a justifiable homicide instruction is appropriate only where the slayer has used such force as is reasonably necessary *under the circumstances*. (Emphasis added.) *State v. Brenner*, 53 Wn. App. 367, 377, 768 P.2d 509 (1989) held that where a homicide is committed in the defense of a felony or attempted felony, "the attack on the defendant's person [must threaten] life or

great bodily harm . . . ." In *State v. Castro*, 30 Wn. App. 586, 588-89, 636 P.2d 1099 (1981) the court held,

in resisting an attempt to commit a felony, the person so resisting is not required to determine with absolute certainty what force is necessary for that purpose, but it does exact of him that he shall not use any more force than shall seem to him to be reasonably necessary for that purpose.

#### (Emphasis added.)

The defendant's reliance on *State v. Ackerman*, 11 Wn. App. 2d. 304, 453 P.3d 749 (2019) is misplaced. The trial court in *Ackerman* modified the standard instruction based on WPIC 16.03 concerning the defense of justifiable homicide while resisting a felony. First, the trial court substituted "violent felony" for "felony" in the instruction. The felony in question in *Ackerman* was a robbery and the trial court did not define "robbery" as a violent felony. *Id.* at 312. The *Ackerman* court held this alone was error. *Id.* at 313.

The *Ackerman* court also held it was error for the trial court to modify WPIC 16.03 by adding "the violent felony threatens imminent danger of death or great personal injury . . .

." *Id.* at 314. The *Ackerman* court recognized that the use of force in response to a felony must be reasonable citing *Brightman*. The court held that having a second instruction asking the jury to consider whether there was a reasonable belief of imminent danger of death or great personal injury associated the justifiable homicide in resistance of a felony instruction would be confusing and a misstatement of the requirements of RCW 9A.16.050 (2).

# C. There are no grounds to accept review based on the photo of Ms. Hill holding her child.

The State will rely on its brief and the Court of Appeals on these issues.

#### III. CONCLUSION

Accordingly, the petition for review should be denied. This document contains 4,842 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.